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Byzantine fortifications and defensive system in the west Black Sea area

[Mepiinym :

To some extent, the Byzantine fortifications along the west coast of the Black Seainherited the Late Roman network of fortified coastal towns. In the
5.6 ¢., asystem of fortified sites with combined civil and military functions developed along the north part of coast, securing the supply of the
garrisons along the easternmost part of the Danube limes. After the 7" c., the Byzantine coastal fortresses remained intact only to the south of

Haemus, yet being contested by Byzantines and Bulgarians until the 14™ ¢. Since then the Ottomans acted as a dominant factor finally establishing
their control over the west coast after 1453.
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West coast of the Black Sea from the estuary of the river Danube to the Bosporus

1. State of research

The study of the Byzantine fortifications aong the west coast of the Black Sea constitutes a part of the broader topic of the Byzantine
fortifications and defensive system in the Eastern Balkans. In fact, however, no single monograph has been written on the Byzantine

fortresses along the entire length of the coast.> The mgjority of the studies done until now, cope either with the administrative division
of the coastal area throughout the Late Roman and medieval period, or with the modern division of the west coast between Romania,
Bulgaria and Turkey.

Thus, one can clearly outline alarge group of studies dedling particularly with the Byzantine fortifications and defensive system in

coastal Dabrudja that belonged to the Late Roman province of Scythia between the late 3 and early 7 ¢ The high concentration of
fortified sites there led to the idea that a particular defensive system, “West Pontic ", had been established along the coast

aready in the time of the 2 In arecent monograph the existence of the “West Pontic limes” has been convincingly contested
and instead the fortifications aong the coast of Dobrudja have been analyzed in the context of the changing of the defensive strategy in

the province of Scythiain the Late Roman/Early Byzantine period.3

Two other compendious studies dedicated to the Early Byzantine fortress on the present-day territory of Bulgaria provide also
concise comments on the Early Byzantine fortresses aong the Bulgarian part of the west Black Sea coast (from Durankulak to

Rezovo).*

Much higher is the number of studies that deal with the Byzantine fortifications in general aong the south part of the west coast of the
Black Sea (from Emonato Bosporus). They can be divided into two main groups with respect to the particular areathey cover. Thus,
one group is comprised by the studies dedicated to various categories of coastal sites, including fortresses, along the Bulgarian part of

the coast (from Emona to Rezovo).° The other group includes works where one can find more or less comprehensive statements on
the Byzantine fortifications along the Thracian coast in Turkey (from | gneada to Bosporus).®

2. Byzantinefortifications along the west coast of the Black Sea 4th to 7th c.

With respect to the functional and typologica characteristics of its components, the defensive system aong the west coast of the
Black Sea went through two main periods of development.

Thefirst period, the late 3/-the mid 5t ¢., can be defined as a period of establishment and gradual abandonment (most likely in the
second quarter of the 4t ¢.) of the Late Roman model of military organization, according to which the majority of the fortified sites
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appeared for military-strategic reasons (Fig. 1). Thus, though the ancient Greek colonies of a «polis» type along the coast (e.g. Histria,
region of mod. Istrig, Tomis, mod. Constanta, Callatis, mod. Mangaliain Romania, Dionysopolis, mod. Bal¢ik, Odessos, mod. Varna
in Bulgaria) had already been fortified by the 3™ c. Nevertheless, large scale fortification works (e.g. expansion of the fortified
territory, construction of towers) had been attempted in some of them (Histria, Tomis and Dionysopolis) at the end of the 3™ and the
beginning of the 4t c. During the reign of Constantine | (r. 324-337), one must also note the appearance of a new fortified polis such
as Constantiana (Enisaa-1, region of mod. Tulcea, Romania) as well as the fortification of civil settlements such as Argamum (near
Unirea, region of Tulcea, Romania) and Tirissa/Acres (cape Kaliakra, Bulgaria). Particularly typical for that period were the fortified
sites with police-military functions, such as the of Enisala-11 (region of mod. Tulcea), Palazu Mare (region of mod. Ovidiu,
Romania), and Stratonis (cape Tuzla, region of Constanta), the of Constanta-Telpis (region of Constanta), and the control and
observation posts (castella) of Ovidiu-1 (region of Constanta) and Caria (cape Sabla, Bulgaria). In addition, in the late gthe,
appeared the so-called “settlements-citadels’ such as Aphrodision (village of Topola, Bulgaria) which marked the transition from
fortified settlements to refugia (castles).”

The disintegration of the Late Roman defensive system in the Balkans was the main result of the invasions of Goths and Huns in the
last quarter of the 4™ ¢. and the first half of the 5™ ¢. For instance, after the middle of the 5t c., some of the military fortresses along
the west coast of the Black Seg, such as Enisda-11, Palazu Mare, Stratonis, Constanta-Telpis, and Ovidiu-1 were abandoned. The
large scale construction program attempted by Anastasios | (r. 491-518) in fact marked the beginning of the second (i.e. Early
Byzantine) period of development of the provincial system of fortification including the coastal fortified sites (Figs. 2 and 4).8 Whilein
some cases reinforcement of the existing fortresses had been made (e.g. Histria, Mesembria, mod. Nessebar, Agathopolis, mod.
Ahtopol, Bulgaria)® the general trend was the construction of new fortified sites along the coast. This fact must be explained with the
exclusive role played by the Black Sea by that time in providing the most secure food supply and logistics for the military unitsin the
provinces of Haimimontos and Scythia. Only few of the newly founded fortified sites, however, were initialy charged with military
functions (Timum, village of Balgarevo and Bal¢ik-Horizont, Bulgaria). Instead, the mgjority of them were founded as civil fortified
settlements— Istria (Romania), Kamen brjag-Jaylata (region of Kavarna), Sv. Nikola (region of Kavarna), Bizone (Kavarna),
Skorpilovtsi (region of Varna), and Derkos (mod. Terkos or Durusu, Turkey).1? Some of the ancient poleis were also supplied with
new fortresswalls (i. e. Mesembria, Sozopolis, mod. Sozopol, Bulgarialtand Medeia, mod. Midye or Kiyikdy, Turkey!?).

The next sufficient contribution to the development of the defensive system was made by Justinian | (r. 527-565). More precisely, that
was the construction of a network of fortresses (castella), similar in plan and size, along the coast, in the middle of the 6" c. (Fig. 3):
Ovidiu-11, Carea (cape Sabla), Kamen brjag-Toprak kale (region of Kavarna), Timum-West (village of Balgarevo) and Bal¢ik-
Tuzlata 13 In addition, both in light of written evidence and archaeological data, Justinian | paid attention to the fortification of the old
coastal poleis. Thus, according to Procopius, the emperor fortified entirely ancient Anchialos (mod. Pomorie), 14 while the
archeological excavations revealed partial reconstructions of walls and towers by that time in Constantiana (Enisala-1), Argamum,
Tomis, Callatis, Acres, Bizone, Bal¢ik-Horizont, and Mesembria.

The second half of the 6! c. was the period of the last efforts in maintaining the defensive system along the west coast of the Black
Sea. That was the time when some of the coastal fortresses (e.g. Histria, Acres, and Bal ¢ik-Horizont) survived partial repairs. By that
time the earthworks (dykes and moats) appeared as a kind of innovation in the fortification of some of the sites (Histria, Argamum).
The final breakdown came with the intensive Avaro-Slav incursions in the 580s. The lack of a permanently active military unit in the
region that might have had stopped the raids over the Danube limes and coordinated the resistance against the invaders doomed the
fortified sites both along the north part of the coast (from the Danube delta to cape Emona) and inland to abandonment at the end of
the 61 and the beginning of the 7he. Perhaps the maritime hegemony of Byzantium in the Black Sea enabled the survival of some
coastal poleis/castra in the province of Scythia, such as Histria, Tomis, Callatis, and Balik-Horizont until the late 7" .15 At the end

of the 6™ and beginning of the 7" c. from the region to the south of cape Emona, repairs of the fortress walls have been attested only
in Mesembria, while in the course of the Avaro-Slav raid in Thrace in AD 584 Anchialos was captured and for a short period of time

became a residence of the Avar khagan.16
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To the list of the Early Byzantine fortresses along the west coast of the Black Sea some more sites can be added, though no definite
evidence, written or archaeological, allowing their more precise dating is available until now: the fortresses on a small cape northeast

of Varna (in modern governmental residence of “Evksinograd”),1” on cape Emine, on the peninsula of Atija (Antheia), on cape
Talasakra, and on cape Kestri¢ (Kanstrizion), al on the territory of modern Bulgaria. 18

3. Byzantinefortifications along the west coast of the Black Sea 8th to 10th c.

The establishment of the Bulgarian state to the south of the Danube in the late 7t c. led to aradical change in the demographic and
strategic appearance of the Eastern Balkans in general affecting also the entire area of the west coast of the Black Sea. The Bulgarians

did not employ the advantages of the coast and did not develop navy and commercial fleet.1® Yet, as stated by Constantine V1|
Porphyrogennetos (r. 945-969) while describing the route of the Russian merchants to Constantinople by the Black Seain the middle

of the 10 c., the Bulgarians managed to keep under control the coastline from the Danube estuary down to the estuary of the river
Kamija (Ditzina).22 In other words, there is no reason to believe that any Byzantine fortress along that part of the west coast of the
Black Searemained active between the end of the 7" and the late 101 c.

Much different, however, was the situation to the south of Haemus (Stara planina) (Fig. 5). Asaunit of theme of Thrakia (the end of
the 7t ¢.) and theme of Macedonia (the end of the 8! ¢.), Mesembria remained under Byzantine control governed by an A
During that period it served as a primary naval and military base for mustering the Byzantine troops in campaigns against Bulgaria. 22

On the 4™ of November 812, the troops of the Bulgarian khan Krum seized Mesembria but not for along. Most likely, it was
recaptured by the Byzantines in 864, in the course of the campaign of Michael |11 (r. 842-867) against Bulgaria by land and by sea.
An inscription found in Mesembria notes a restoration of the city “from its foundations” by Basil | (r. 867-886). Indeed, some of the

repairs of the city walls accomplished with bricks are dated to the last quarter of the oth ¢. and might be related to the rebuilding

activity of Basil | between 879 and 886.23 It is generally considered that Mesebmria came into the hands of the Bulgarians as a result
of the military campaign of tsar Symeon (r. 892-927) in 894-904, when repairs of the city walls were attempted again, but it probably

returned to byzantine hands at some point during the 10th century, asthe seals of the of Mesembriaindicate.2*

Similar was the faith of Anchialos. Throughout the 8t c., the port of the fortress and its surroundings became an arena of frequent
clashes between the Byzantine army (land troops and navy) and the Bulgarians. The fortress was captured by kahn Krum in 812 and
annexed to the Bulgarian territory according to the Byzantine-Bulgarian peace treaty from 815. Similarly to Mesembria, Anchialos
was regained by the Byzantines in 864 and lost to the Bulgarians in the military campaigns in 894-904. The last mention of the coastal

fortressin the 10t c. is related to the harsh battle between the Byzantine and the Bulgarian troopsin 917, at the river Acheloos (mod.
Ahelgj) in the vicinity of Anchidos.2 Despite the defeat of the Byzantines, there are not clear information in the sources on who kept
the control over the fortress until the end of the 10t c.

Until 812-813 Sozopolis was aso under Byzantine control when, as a result of the victorious wars of Krum, it became a part of the
Bulgarian territory. However, according to the peace treaty of 815, Sozopolis was returned to Byzantium since the boundary was
traced from Debeltos to the surroundings of Adrianople. Nevertheless, it is disputable whether the Byzantines maintained actual
control over the fortress, or rather it remained under Bulgarian domination. Certainly, Sozopolis was annexed to Bulgaria after the

battle at Acheloosin 917, and its status was confirmed by the Byzantine-Bulgarian peace treaty of 927.26

It is considered that Agathopolis must have been also among the fortresses captured by Krum in his campaign in 812 and remained
under Bulgarian control until the Byzantine occupation of the eastern part of the Bulgarian territory in 971, perhaps with a break

between 864 and 894.2” However, the arguments for such a conclusion are based on circumstantial evidence in the written sources.
More definite evidence can be found about Medeia: in 8t- and 10!"-c. sourcesiit is referred to as “a fortress (kastron) near
Bulgaria” used mostly for exile of prominent Byzantines.?
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4. Byzantine fortifications along the west coast of the Black Sea 11th to 12th c.

The campaign of John | Tzimiskes (r. 969-976) against the Rus' led to the Byzantine occupation of the eastern territories of medieval
Bulgaria (mod. Northeastern Bulgaria, Dobrudja, and Northeastern Thrace) in 970-971. After the revival of the Bulgarian power up
to the Danube under Tsar Samuel (r. 997-1014), Emperor Basil 11 (r. 976-1025) completed the total subjugation of Bulgariain 1018.

The Byzantines managed to keep the Danube as an effective frontier of the Byzantine Empire until the 12t ¢. In 1185, the revolt led
by the Bulgarian noblemen and brothers Asen and Peter led to the restoration of the Bulgarian state.?®

Throughout all that period the Byzantines dominated entirely the west coast of the Black Sea (Fig. 6). However, between the Danube
estuary and cape Emona only one fortress has been founded. That was the fortress of Varna which occupied a part of the area of
ancient Odessos, namely the southeastern part now called the Greek quarter. In light of the sigillographic evidence this might have

happened after 1050s when a of Varna (otpatnyoc Bapvac) had already been appointed.®

The strategic role of Mesembriain the naval and military campaigns of the Byzantines in the Northern Balkans throughout the 11th e,
led to its development into an independent during the 1060s-1070s.31 By that time the walls of Mesembria were repaired
as witnessed by an inscription mentioning the name of Constantine X Doukas (r. 1059-1067) and his wife Eudokia.3?

In the 1080s Alexios | Komnenos (r. 1081-1118) appointed Siaus (turk. Caus), a Seljuk Turk by origin, as “dux of Anchialos’.
Indeed, in the last two decades of the 111" c. the fortress played an important role in Alexios's campaigns against the Pechenegs and

Cumans.33 In the 121 c., the fortress appeared in the sources as a place of exile and a point of transfer of troops in the course of the
campaigns of Manuel | Komnenos (r. 1143-1180) against the Cumansin 1148 and Isaac |1 Angelos (r. 1185-1195) against the

Bulgarian revolt headed by Asen and Peter in 1187-1190.3* In 1190 the Bulgarians managed to seized VVarna and Anchialos; yet
soon after, in 1193, Isaac 11 Angelos and the Byzantines regained control over them, fortified Anchialos with towers and dispatched

garrisons there.3°

Therest of the fortresses along the west coast of the Black Sea were of much lesser importance for the strategy of the Byzantine
defense. Sozopolis was a preferable place for exile in the late 11t and 12" ¢.36 The name of Agathopolis appeared only in relation
to the rebellion of Asen and Peter and more precisely, to their camp arranged in the vicinity of the city in the spring of 1187.37
Perhaps a garrison was sheltered in the fortress of Derkos, asimplied by the mention of two soldiers there in the Vita of St Cyril
Phileotes. 38

5. Byzantine fortifications along the west coast of the Black Sea 13th to 15th c.

As aresult of the restoration of the Bulgarian empire in the late 12t ¢. and the establishment of the Latin Empire of Constantinople in
1204 the Byzantines lost their power over the west coast of the Black Sea. The fortress of Varnawas destroyed by the Bulgarian tsar
Kaoyan (r. 1197-1207 ) in 1201 and remained under Bulgarian control until 1389, when it was captured by the troops of the
Ottoman sultan Murad | (r. 1361-1389).3% The fortresses to the south of Haemus (i.e. Mesembria, Anchialos, Sozopolis,
Agathopolis, Kanstritzion) were administered by the Bulgarians until the end of the Latin occupation of Constantinople in 1261 (Fig.
7).

Y et the restoration of the Byzantine Empire did not let to the restoration of the Byzantine domination in the West Black Sea area. In

the second half of the 13t ¢. Mesembria, though administratively and military controlled by the Byzantines, turned to a primary
maritime commercial centre for Venetians and Genoese. Mesembria, Anchiaos, Sozopolis and Agathopolis were contested by

Bulgarian and Byzantine forces throughout the first half of the 141 c. These towns enjoyed particular prosperity under Bulgarian tsar
Ivan Alexander (r. 1331-1371), until they were conquered by crusaders led by Amadeus VI, Count of Savoy in 1366 and handed

back to Byzantium.*? In some of the fortresses (e.g. Mesembria, Medeia) repairs of the wallsin the late 13" and 14t ¢. have been
attested.
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In 1396 Mesembria was captured for the first time by the Ottoman Turks and remained under their control until 1403. During the first
half of the 15" c. the fortresses along the west coast to the south of Haemus were contested between Ottomans and Byzantines.
Short before the fall of Constantinople in 1453 all of them were finally seized by the Ottomans.*2

6. Topography, layout, and elements

Due to their settlement history, the Byzantine fortifications along the west coast of the Black sea differ in topography and size. Thus,
while the ancient fortified cities and some of the ancient fortified settlements (e.g. Anchialos) were situated in relation to the
comfortable bays enabling both naval and commercia navigation, the newly founded fortified sites occupied steep and rocky hills,
peninsulas and capes cut into the see (e.g. Aphrodision, Sv. Nikola, Kaliakra, Agathopolis). Respectively, the size of the fortified area

varies from 60 ha (Tomis) and 30 ha (Odessos) in the ancient cities to roughly 1 hain the military fortresses (burgi, castella).*®

Asregards their layout, one can distinguish two types of fortified sites. To the first type belonged the sites where the walls enclose the
entire area following the specifics of the terrain (e.g. Enisala-1, Enisala-11, Aphrodision, Bal¢ik-Horizont, Mesembria, Antheia,
Talasakra), while in the rest of the cases only the side/sides providing access to the fortress had been defended by awall (e.g.
Argamum, Histria, Tomis, Callatis, Caria, Carea, Kamen brjag-Jaylata, Kamen brjag-Toprak kale, Sv. Nikola, Tirissa/Acres, Timum,
Timum-West, Bizone, Bal¢ik-Tuzlata, Anchidos, Agathopolis) (Fig. 8-9).

The main element of the fortification of all categories of sitesis the curtain. One of the basic requirements for the construction of the
Early Byzantine fortresses in general was the sufficient depth of the substructure of the walls. That was especially important for the
majority of the Byzantine fortresses along the west coast of the Black Sea since most of them were placed on steep terrains thus
risking slipping down. Thus, for instance, the substructure of the walls of the fortress of Sv. Nikolawas laid to a depth of 3-3.5m.
The average thickness of the walls varied between 1.5 and 3 m, while the height reached roughly 10 m. (e.g. the walls of Mesembria

are preserved to a height of 8 m). Some of the walls were additionally enforced by means of buttresses (Bizone).**

The fortresses from the 5t-6t" c. were usually supplied with asingle gate. As for their arrangement, one can distinguish several
groups among the coastal fortresses. The first group is caracterized by the arrangement of the gates in accordance with the Roman
tradition, with their passage defended by two flanking towers (e.g. Mesembria and Odessos). The second group includes fortresses
defended by a single tower arranged in its proximity (e.g. Sv. Nikola). Another group is exemplified by gates defended by towers
arranged above the passages (e. g. Kamen brjag-Jaylata (Fig. 9), Skorpilovtsi). In addition to the main fortress gates, some of the
fortresses were supplied with secret exits (poterna). Most frequently they were arranged in the walls of the pentagonal and triangular

towers (Mesembria).*®

The development of the siege engines in the Early Byzantine period led to the rise of the importance of the towers. The rectangular
towers, typical for the previous period, were still in use, yet more frequently they had irregular layout and varied in size and position
along the walls—at the corners (Caria), along the curtain (e. g. Argamum, Histria (Fig. 8), Callatis, Kamen brjag-Jaylata (Fig. 9), Sv.

Nikola),* or flanking the gates (e.g. Tomis, Balcik-Horizont). Most frequently, the rectangular towers were combined with round,

polygonal and U-shaped towers (e.g. Tirissa/Acres (Fig. 10), Sozopolis). In fact, in the 5-6t" . the round, U-shaped, triangular and
polygonal towers gradually replaced the rectangular towers at the corners (Bal ¢ik-Tuzlata), along the curtain (e.g. Bal¢ik-Horizont),
and in flanking the gates (Mesembria). More precisely, the pentagonal towers marked the final phase in the development of the

polygonal towers in the middle of the 51" ¢.4” Usually they were arranged along the curtain, projecting 5 to 10 m in front of it
(Mesembria, Medeia). The towers of Mesembria were vaulted and poternas were cut in their lateral walls. They projected 11.80 min

front of the curtain which made them very effective in active defense. 8

The stairs providing access to the platforms of the curtain and the towers were a so an element of the active defense. Such stairs,

tightly attached to the inner face of the walls, can be found in the fortresses of Bizone, Bal &ik-Horizont, Sv. Nikola.? The guard
rooms usually attached to one of the gate towers must also be added (e g. TirissalAcres, Bizone).
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It must be noted that the , avery specific element of the Byzantine fortresses in the 51-6" ¢., was not applied in any of
the fortresses along the west coast of the Black Sea. Instead, some of the fortresses were supplied with moats and dykes (e.g. Enisala
—l, Argamum, Bal¢ik-Tuzlata).

The employment of the Early Byzantine fortresses in the later centuries did not add much to the development of their elements. Rather
the repairs of the walls, gates and towers made in technique different from the origina construction, provide evidence for the
maintenance of the fortifications throughout the centuries.

7. Construction techniques

Three types of techniques had been applied in the construction of the Early Byzantine fortresses aong the west coast of the Black
Sea: opus latericium (brick technique), opus implectum (stone technique) and opus mixtum (stone-brick technique).

The majority of the fortresses were built in opus implectum (Argamum, Histria, Tomis, Callatis, Caria, Carea, Kamen brjag-Jaylata,
Sv. Nikolg, Balcik-Tuzlata). Originally, only the fortress of Mesembria was built in opus mixtum and only the curtains and towers of

the fortress of Medeia were brick-built. 5% Brick technique was employed in the repair of the curtain next to the gate of Mesembria at
the end of the 9t ¢., while in the repairs of the curtains of Careawas employed opus pseudo-mixtum.>!

8. General characteristics

In light of the written sources and the archaeological investigations, the Byzantine fortresses along the west coast of the Black sea can
be divided into three groups, which passed through different stages of development between the 4™ and the 151" c.

To thefirst group belonged the Greco-Roman cities of a different rank, most of which had been fortified aready in the 3dec, (Histria,

Tomis, Callatis, Dionysopolis, Odessos, Mesembria, Sozopolis). Though keeping more or less their urban lifestyle, from the late 4t c.
onwards they developed primarily as fortresses. With the exception of Mesembria, however, they did not manage to survive the

Avaro-Slav and Bulgar invasion in the 6t"-7t ¢. Some of the cities situated to the north of Haemus were replaced by new fortresses
in the 111" ¢. (Odessos-Varna).

The second group is comprised by ancient settlements along the coast, which were fortified in the late 51" and 6" c. The majority of
them are concentrated to the south of Haemus (Anchialos, Agathopolis, Antheia, Talasakra, Medeia) and kept functioning until the
15t ¢. After along break, from the beginning of the 7t" to the 13" c., the fortress of Bizone on cape Cirakmana was reoccupied and
restored in the 13th -14th c., and became known under the name of KavarnalKarnava, until the Ottoman conquest at the middle of
the 151" ¢.%2

The third group includes the fortified sites founded in the 51-6t" ¢. as a result of the importance of the sea route along the west coast
of the Black Seafor assuring the logistic support of the Byzantine garrisons. With respect to their function and style of habitation,
those sites can be divided into fortified settlements and fortresses with military and police functions. Similarly to the poleisin the first

group, the majority of them, and especially those situated to the north of Haemus, remained in tact to the late 7t c. at latest.

1. The only exception yet written rather early and thus providing not very precise information in some of the cases, are the two articles by K.

Ikoprmn, “ Crparermdecku mocTpoiiku B YepHoMopckara obnact Ha bankauckus momyoctpos” Byzantinoslavica 2 (1930), pp. 197-230;
Byzantinoslavica 3 (1931), pp. 11-32.

2. Al.-S. stefan, “Nouvelles recherches de photo-interprétation archéol ogique concernant |a défense de la Scythie Mineure,” in J. Fit (ed.), Limes:
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Akten des XI. Internationalen Limeskongress (Szekesfehervar, 30.08.-6.09. 1976), (Budapest 1976), pp. 451-465; C. Scorpan, Limes Scythiae.
Topographical and stratigraphical research on the late Roman fortifications on the Lower Danube. BAR Int. Ser. 88 (Oxford 1980); Al. Suceveanu,
“Dierémischen Verteidigungslagen an der Kiste der Dobrudscha” Bonner Jahrbticher 192 (1992), pp. 195-223.

3. Two main arguments have been raised against the “limes thesis’. According to the first argument, the Roman coastal road in Dobrudjaran rather far
from the coast due to the number of fiords and large bays that indented the coast there by that time. Therefore, the coastal road could not have had
functioned as an element of the defensive system. The second argument is based on the fact that in light of the epigraphic datafrom Histria, Tomis,
Callatis, and Dionysopolis the officers there had police rather than military functions: C. Top6artos, Ykpenumennama cucmema na nposunyusi Ckumust
(xp. III-VII 8.) (V. Turnovo 2002), pp. 442-451. For afull list of the Late Roman/Early Byzantine fortifications along the coast of Dobrudja supplied with
the available written, epigraphic and archaeol ogical data, see C. Top6aros (2002), pp. 166-270.

4. 1. Ouapos, Busanmuiicku u 6vreapcku kpenocmu V-X sex (Sofia 1982), pp. 7-77; B. unues, Pannosusanmuiickume kpenocmu 6 Bvieapus u
cwvceonume zemu (6 ouoyesume Tpaxus u [axus). Paskonku u npoyusanus XXXV (Sofia 2006).
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[Nwccdpo :

archon

Term that designates agovernor in general. When it is not used in atechnical sense, it denotes members of the aristocracy, high officers of the
byzantine empire and it is even used for independent princes.

burgus
(lat., pl.: burgi) Roman watch-tower; small fortified site with lesser military functions.
katepano

(from "epano”,"above") Governor of a katepania. Title that from the end of the 10th century characterized the commanders of large
provinces as Italy or Mesopotamia and from the 11th century, it was used aso in the regions of Bulgaria, Antioch etc.
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kleisourarch

(and kleisouriarch) a Byzantine term denoting the commander of a kleisoura or akleisarchy. These were military units responsible for the defence of
mountain passes; the term is also used to desifnate an administrative unit smaller than the theme.

limes
The latin noun limes (pl.: limites), meaning the boundary line or marker, usually denotes a fortified frontier or border defence system along
the boundaries of the Roman Empire.

Principate
The Principate isthe first period of the Roman Empire, beginning with the monocracy of Augustus (r. 27 BC - AD 14) and extending the 3rd century

and the crisis that brought about the Tetrarchy of Diocletian. The Roman Emperors of the Principate strived to preserve theillusion of the formal
continuance of the Roman Republic.

proteichisma (forewall)

The proteichisma or forewall was an outer wall, smaller than the actual wall curtain, which strengthened the fortificationsin plain sites. The forewalls
were designed especially against highly organized attackers, who could construct siege-ramps and bring big machines into action against the
defences. Defences provided with proteichismata were constructed in the late Roman and Byzantine periods. The most impressive and best preserved
example still standing isthe land wall of Constantinople.

strategos ("genera")
During the Roman period his duties were mainly political. Office of the Byzantine state’s provincial administration. At first the title was given to the

military and political administrator of the themes, namely of the big geographic and administrative unities of the Byzantine empire. Gradually thetitle
lost its power and, already in the 11th century, strategoi were turned to simple commanders of military units, responsible for the defence of aregion.

turris
lat. for the tower; fortified city.
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Justinian | fortifies Anchialos

IToAw 8¢ Tiva EmiBaiaocoiav oikobot Opaixes maga TV Nidva tov EvEeivov TTovtov, AyxiaAov dvoua, fjomep v émutndelw
puvnoBeinuev dv, mepuyyovuevol ta Emi T OQakng xwola... Tetxrjon Toivuv adtov év e magdvtL memonuévos Tovotiviavog
BaotAevg, diivdvvov diempdEato odloL TV drkeov eivat T pév o0V YNG TG éag, étt pévtol kat Agueviag kal TCavikng
oxvowpaTa Kol ta ye apdi tov EvEetvov movrov, mde Tovotviave BaotAet elpyaotat.
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The travel of Rus' to Constantinople on dugouts through Bulgarian land

Amo d¢ tov ZeAwvav ob pofovvtal tva, dAAX v T BovAyapiag ynv évdvoapevoy, eig 0 To0 AavouBiov otéutov €gxovroL. Ao
d¢ o0 AavoupBiov kataAapupavovowy eig tov Kwvomav, kat ano to0 Kwvona eic Kwvotdvtiav *** eig tov motapov Baovag, kat dmo
Baovag épxovrtat eig Tov motapov v Awrtlivav, anep mavta eiot yi ¢ BovAyaptag. Amo 8¢ g Artlivag eig T e Meonufoiag
péQn kataAapupavovoty, kKat 00Twg pHéXoL ToVTV 0 TOALIVYOC ATV Kal TtepidoBoc, duodiéEoddc Te Kal XaAemog
amnomepaiveTal TAOUG.
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The flee of the Bulgarian leader Sabin to the Byzantine castle of Mesembria (766)

0TAoEWG dE Yevouévng, Gpevyel ZaBivog €v 1@ kaotow Meonupolag kal mpooegein 1@ PaciAel. éotnoav d¢ ot BovAyagot étegov
KOOV éavt@v, ovopartt [Tayavov.
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Isaac Il Angelos' fortification works at Anchialos

a. Q¢ d¢ tax kata dVOLV XEWROVWG elxoV el kai ot BAaxot AniCopevol peta Kopdvwv kat dnovvreg v Vo Pwpaiovs énreocav
ovvexwe, éEetov avdic 6 BactAevs kat’ avT@v. Kal d1 v Ayxiadov magaAAaag ék megleAeVoews TOV Alpov eloetot. undév Tt d’
éxwv nagovoiag BaciAéws aélov diampalaocBat duotl pnot v ékotoatelav APwQLoE. T Yag ékeloe GQovoLa KAl TTOAIX VI
loxvooTéoav TG mMEoTéQag e0EE TeQLBEPANUEVA loXDV Kal TelxeTL VEOOUNTOLS KAl AQTIOTEPETL TTQOODLEAN UUEVA BAoeot
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b. 1193/6107 (Ind. 11) Sommer ca.
6116 Baoidele Toaduciog 6 AyyeAog émbgywoe v Ayxiadov kal v Baovav, &g é£emdpOnoav oi BAdxot émi g avtov BaociAeiag.
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